#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

#### **CASE NO. SC04-1594**

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **ROBERT MORRIS**

Appellant,

v.

#### STATE OF FLORIDA

Appellee.

## ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT FOR POLK COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Richard Kiley Florida Bar No. 0558893

James Viggiano
Florida Bar No. 0715336
CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL
COUNSEL MIDDLE REGION
3801 Corporex Park Drive, Suite 210
Tampa, FL 33619
(813) 740-3544
COUNSELS FOR APPELLANT

####

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

This is an appeal of the circuit court=s denial of Mr. Morris=postconviction motion filed under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.851.

References to the record include volume and page number and are of the form, e.g., (PCR Vol. I - p. 123)

Robert Morris, the Appellant now before this Court, is referred to as such or by his proper name. The attorneys who represented Mr. Morris at trial were Howard Dimmig and Howardene Garrett. They are sometimes referred to by name and sometimes as Atrial counsel. The phrase Aevidentiary hearing refers to the evidentiary hearing conducted on Mr. Morris=motion for post conviction relief.

Mr. Morris=trial was presided over by the Honorable Robert A. Young. The evidentiary hearing was presided over by the Honorable J. Michael McCarthy.

#### **REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Mr. Morris has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues in this

action will determine whether Mr. Morris lives or dies. This Court has allowed oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the fact that a life is at stake. Mr. Morris accordingly requests that this Court permit oral argument.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

#### I. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Robert Morris was charged by indictment on September 29, 1994 in Polk

County with the first degree murder of Violet Livingston, burglary, armed robbery, and sexual battery. Mr. Morris=motion to sever the sexual battery count was granted. The state unsuccessfully sought certiorari review in the Second District Court of Appeal of the order granting a severance. The State then elected to try the sexual battery count first, and that case went to trial in November, 1998, resulting in a hung jury. The trial court then granted a judgment of acquittal, on the ground that the evidence did not exclude the reasonable hypothesis that the victim died prior to the commencement of the sexual battery. The defense moved in limine to exclude evidence of sexual activity from the upcoming murder trial. The trial court ruled that the state could introduce evidence that biological materials and fluids recovered from Violet Livingstons body during the autopsy were submitted for DNA testing, and could introduce the results of the DNA tests, but that the state would not be permitted to introduce evidence inferring sexual activity.

The case proceeded to trial on counts one, two, and four from February 15 - March 11, 1999, before Circuit Judge Robert A. Young and a jury. On the Friday before jury selection, the state offered an eleventh hour plea deal of a sentence of life imprisonment in exchange for a guilty plea. Robert Morris did not accept the offer.

The jury found Mr. Morris guilty as charged on each count and after the penalty phase recommended a death sentence by a vote of 8-4. Mr. Morris received concurrent sentences of life imprisonment for the burglary and robbery convictions.

On April 30, 1999, Judge Young imposed the death penalty for the murder conviction, finding four aggravating factors, one statutory mitigating factor, and numerous nonstatutory mitigating factors. Notice of appeal was filed on April 30, 1999.

On February 21, 2002, Mr. Morris=conviction was affirmed by the Court in Morris v. State, 811 So.2d 661 (Fla. 2002). The Court issued a mandate on March 14, 2002. Mr. Morris filed his Motion for Post Conviction Relief on March 3, 2003. Mr. Morris filed an Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief on May 30, 2003. A status conference was held on October 15, 2003 where Mr. Morris was granted an evidentiary hearing. Mr. Morris filed a Second Amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief on December 22, 2003.

An evidentiary hearing was held on May 19 and 20, 2004. The trial court denied the Motion for Post Conviction Relief on July 12, 2004. Mr. Morris filed his Notice of Appeal on August 9, 2004.

#### II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

An evidentiary hearing was held on May 19 and 20, 2004 on claims IA, IB, III, IV, VI, VII, IX, and XI (based on cumulative errors derived from matters the court has permitted a hearing on). (PCR Vol. V - p.769.) The court denied a hearing as to claims II, V, VIII, and X as the claims required only legal argument and no presentation of evidence. (PCR Vol. V - p.769.)

Claim IA alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to object or move

for a mistrial and recusal of the trial court in the guilt phase of the trial. The gravamen of the claim alleged that the trial court allowed jurors to submit questions which could be answered by the court or the state during the trial. Claim IB alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in failing to properly investigate and prepare for the guilt phase of the trial. Trial counsel failed to investigate an alternate suspect. Claim III alleged that the mental health expert who evaluated Mr. Morris failed to conduct a professionally competent and appropriate evaluation. Claim IV alleged that trial counsel failed to provide Mr. Morris=mental health expert with adequate background information to permit a meaningful evaluation for the presence of mitigation. Claim VI alleged that trial counsel was ineffective in holding discussions with the court outside the presence of Mr. Morris and without a waiver by Mr. Morris. Claim VII alleged that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to call Mr. Morris to testify at the penalty phase of the trial. Claim IX alleged that trial counsel failed to request the court instruct the jury on statutory mitigators where evidence was presented on statutory mitigation. Claim XI alleged that Mr. Morris=trial was fraught with procedural and substantive errors.

#### **EVIDENTIARY HEARING FACTS**

#### A. TESTIMONY OF DOCTOR BILL MOSMAN

Dr. Bill Mosman is a psychologist licensed in Florida who testified at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR. Vol. II - p.282) Dr. Mosman was tendered as an expert in

the area of psychology and the State had no objection. (PCR. Vol. II - p.283)

As a part of his evaluation, Dr. Mosman requested all records resulting from the trial including educational records and raw data obtained from Dr. Dee - the clinical psychologist and clinical neuropsychologist appointed as a confidential expert to Mr. Morris during the trial. (PCR. Vol. II - p.285) Dr. Mosman reviewed the test procedures used by Dr. Dee in his evaluation of Mr. Morris. (PCR. Vol. II - p.286) Dr. Mosman also conducted an evaluation and testing of Mr. Morris. (PCR. Vol. II - p.323)

Regarding the level of retardation of Mr. Morris, Dr. Mosman testified that Mr. Morris consistently scored in the lower percentiles and that some of his scores were in the retarded range. (PCR. Vol. II - p.287-8) Mr. Morris=level of reasoning, analysis, judgment, and comprehension is in the mentally retarded range. (PCR. Vol. II - p.318) Dr. Mosman testified that the issue of mental retardation in the clinical psychologist perspective was not addressed in a minimally acceptable level during the preparation of the trial. (PCR. Vol. II - p.297) Dr. Mosman testified that although Mr. Morris was labeled Aeducable mentally retarded@in elementary school, that is not a diagnosis recognized in the clinical field and that it is a category no longer used. (PCR. Vol. II - p.287)

Dr. Mosman testified that Mr. Morris was administered a series of Wechsler tests for which he consistently scored in the lower percentile. (PCR. Vol. II - p.287-8)

On March 9, 1996, Dr. Dee administered the Wisconsin exam to Mr. Morris which is designed to evaluate frontal lobe and brain damage. (PCR. Vol. II - p.292-3) Mr. Morris scored on the Wisconsin exam in the 10<sup>th</sup> percentile which equates to 90 out of 100 individuals scoring more accurate. (PCR. Vol. II - p.293)

Regarding the administration of the Wechsler exam, Dr. Mosman expressed concern that the test was not properly administered. (PCR. Vol. II - p.294) First, an assistant and not Dr. Dee administered the tests, and only parts of the subtest were given. Second, a full scale I.Q. could not be obtained because a performance I.Q. was not obtained. Finally, approximately two months after Dr. Dees assistant administered the test, the WAIS III, a new version, came out. This test was never used. (PCR. Vol. II - p.294-7)

Dr. Mosman testified that three mental mitigators could have been presented, but were not. (PCR. Vol. II - p.302) Dr. Mosman believed that the statutory mitigators that could have been given were: age at the time of the offense, extreme mental or emotional disturbance, and capacity to conform. (PCR. Vol. II - p.300, 302, 307-8) Dr. Mosman testified that the testing errors were such that they could not be translated accurately. (PCR. Vol. II - p.299, 300)

Dr. Mosman testified that the statutory mitigation of extreme mental disturbance should have been presented. (PCR. Vol. II - p.307) Mr. Morris had brain damage directly related to frontal lobe problems, which equates to a substantial

impairment with capacity to conform. (PCR. Vol. II - p.314-5)

#### B. TESTIMONY OF HOWARD DIMMIG

At the evidentiary hearing Howard Dimmig testified that he is an assistant public defender and has been with his current office since 1988. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 346)

Dimmig represented Mr. Morris on the charge of first degree murder as well as other charges. (PCR. Vol. III - p.347) Howardene Garrett was co-counsel. (PCR. Vol. III - p.347) The responsibility for the guilt and penalty phases were divided with Dimmig handling the guilt phase and Garrett handling the penalty phase. (PCR. Vol. III - p.348)

Since one of the other charges against Mr. Morris included a sexual battery, Attorney Dimmig moved to sever the sexual battery charge because of the prejudicial effect it may have upon the jury. (PCR. Vol. III - p.348) Attorney Dimmig tried the sexual battery charge and a mistrial was declared because there was a hung jury. (PCR. Vol. III - p.349) He then filed a renewed motion for a directed judgment of acquittal, which was granted. (PCR. Vol. III - p.349)

Attorney Dimmig was aware of a proposed Rule of Civil Procedure that would allow jurors to submit questions to the court during a trial. (PCR. Vol. III - p.350)

Dimmig recalled that during Mr. Morris=trial, the trial court anticipated the rule change allowing jurors to ask questions during the trial. (PCR. Vol. III - p.350) However, at the time of Mr. Morris=trial, Attorney Dimmig was unaware that the proposed rule

change applied only to civil cases. (PCR. Vol. III - p.350)

As an experienced public defender, Dimmig was well aware of the standard jury instruction regarding reasonable doubt. (PCR. Vol. III - p.350) He acknowledged that allowing jurors to ask questions during the trial could benefit the state as the procedure could help resolve reasonable doubt in the jurors minds. (PCR. Vol. III - p.350) He further acknowledged that allowing the state the opportunity to clarify any confusion, misunderstanding, or resolve conflicts in the evidence would not benefit Mr. Morris. (PCR. Vol. - p.352) Even though he knew that allowing jurors to ask questions during the trial inured to the state, Dimmig failed to object to the unusual procedure. (PCR. Vol. III - p.351) He did not know why he failed to object. (PCR. Vol. - p.352) Furthermore, he realized that in failing to object, the error was compounded because the issue was not preserved for appellate review. (PCR. Vol. III - p.351-2)

Attorney Dimmig attempted to develop an alternate suspect and believed it would be critical to the defense. (PCR. Vol. III - p.354, 379) There were four unidentified and untested fingerprints at the scene; two on the light bulb cover, one on the kitchen counter, and one on the closet doorknob in the second bedroom. (PCR. Vol. III - p.354) There was an effort to match the fingerprints through the AFA system, but they were unidentified fingerprints. (PCR. Vol. III - p.354) During cross examination of state witnesses counsel was further able to establish that hair samples recovered from the scene were microscopically different than those of Robert Morris

and that DNA recovered could have been tainted with a third person=s DNA. (PCR. Vol. III - p.364-5)

Attorney Dimmig did attempt to make an issue of the unidentified fingerprints to raise reasonable doubt through the existence of an alternative suspect. (PCR. Vol. III - p.355) In opening statement, Dimmig told the jury that a witness observed an individual who was definitely not a black man closely observing the apartment where Mrs. Livingston was killed. (PCR. Vol. III - p.355) The witness that Attorney Dimmig referred to in the opening statement was Sherry Laventure who lived in the first one of the houses behind the Martin-s Landing apartment complex were Violet Livingston lived. Sherry Laventure was interviewed by police and investigators from the Public Defender-s Office in their canvass of the neighborhood. (PCR. Vol. III - p.355)

Sherry Laventure testified at trial that the person she saw at the Martin=s

Landing apartment complex was not white. (PCR. Vol. III - p.357) Attorney Dimmig

testified that he had attempted to previously refresh Ms. Laventure=s recollection

during a conversation he had with her in October of 1997. (PCR. Vol. III - p.357)

However, Attorney Dimmig did not have any recorded statements of Ms. Laventure

with which he could impeach her during trial. (PCR. Vol. III - p.358) Attorney

Dimmig knew before trial that Laventure was not a willing witness, yet he had not

deposed her. (PCR. Vol. - p.361)

Laventure also testified at trial that Toni Maloney, an investigator with the

Public Defenders Office, attempted to encourage Laventure to say that the person around the apartment was not black. (PCR. Vol. III- p.361) Defense counsel then entered into a stipulation with the state that no representative of the Public Defenders Office had encouraged anyone to present false testimony. (PCR. Vol. III- p.361) Dimmig testified at the evidentiary hearing that he went into what he refers to as the Amother-hen-mode. Dimmig wanted to bolster the image of the Public Defenders-s office and present the image that [they] had not in any way attempted to influence the testimony of a witness. (PCR. Vol. II- p. 465) Laventure also testified that she spoke with another investigator with the Public Defenders Office named Brad Barfield. (PCR. Vol. III- p.361) She claimed that she told the investigator that the man she saw was not white. (PCR. Vol. III- p.362-3) Attorney Dimmig never did call Barfield to rebut the testimony of Laventure. (PCR. Vol. III- p.364)

Attorney Dimmig acknowledged that the state was able to exploit the failure of the defense to impeach Ms. Laventure. (PCR. Vol. III - p.359) The state was able to exploit the fact that Dimmig had said one thing in an opening statement, and could not have the witness confirm what he said in opening statement. (PCR. Vol. III - p.359)

#### C. TESTIMONY OF HOWARDENE G. GARRETT

Howardene Garrett is an assistant public defender who represented Robert Morris in the penalty phase of his trial. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 391) Attorney Garrett testified that it was strategy to have the two phases of the trial completely distinct.

(PCR. Vol. III - p. 392)

Attorney Garrett was aware of Mr. Morris=right to testify in both the guilt and penalty phases of the trial. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 392) Mr. Morris did testify in the guilt phase of his trial. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 392) Attorney Garrett was present when Attorney Dimmig discussed with Mr. Morris his right to testify in the guilt phase. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 392) Garrett could not recall whether or not she had any discussions with Mr. Morris about him testifying in the penalty phase. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 394) She acknowledged that Mr. Morris=right to testify was his personal right which could be waived only by him. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 393) She further acknowledged that it can be very effective in penalty phase to have the client speak in their own words to the jury about abuse suffered as a child. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 393)

During the penalty phase, Attorney Garrett presented several points regarding nonstatutory mitigation. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 396) She also presented evidence in support of statutory mitigation. (PCR. Vol. III - p.398) Garrett filed a motion requesting a special jury instruction in an effort to get the court to instruct on all of the mitigators, even if they were not mentioned in the statute. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 396) However, the court denied the motion for a special jury instruction on nonstatutory mitigation. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 396)

No statutory mitigation instruction was requested by counsel nor given by the court to the jury. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 398) Even though the jury did not have the

benefit of hearing a statutory mitigation instruction, the court did find one statutory mitigator in his sentencing order. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 398) Attorney Garrett could not rule out that it might have been beneficial to Mr. Morris had she requested the jury be given the statutory mitigation instruction. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 398) She believed that it might have been something that would have made a difference. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 398)

Attorney Garrett acknowledged that a client has a right to be present at all proceedings with respect to his or her case. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 398) Garrett testified that she had no independent recollection of matters that were discussed during a bench conference outside the presence of Mr. Morris. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 399) She stated that she did read the transcript in preparing for her testimony at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 399) She could not rule out that the matter discussed was regarding a legal matter that involved Mr. Morris. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 399)

Attorney Garrett was not aware that the WAIS administered by Dr. Henry Dee to Robert Morris was not the most recent version of the test. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 400) She said she would certainly always want to use the most recent test. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 401) She was not aware that there was a WAIS III. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 401) She could only defer to her expert. (PCR. Vol. III - p. 401)

Attorney Garrett testified that if she had the evidence to support the mental age mitigator, she would have preferred to use it. (PCR. Vol. III - p.403) She did not

recall speaking with her expert about the mental age mitigator. (PCR. Vol. III - p.414)

#### D. TESTIMONY OF ROBERT MORRIS

Robert Morris testified at the evidentiary hearing that he recalled testifying at the guilt phase of the trial. (PCR. Vol.III - p.423) Attorney Garrett did not tell him that he had to testify nor did she force him to testify. (PCR. Vol.III - p.423) Mr. Morris does recall Attorney Garrett asking him if he wished to testify in the guilt phase but she did not ask him about testifying in the penalty phase. (PCR. Vol.III - p.424) Mr. Morris testified that Judge Young did not ask him if he wished to testify in the penalty phase. (PCR. Vol.III - p.425) The attorneys did not tell Mr. Morris that he had the right to testify in the penalty phase as well as the guilt phase. (PCR. Vol.III - p.425) Had he known he could testify, Mr. Morris would have testified in the penalty phase of his trial and would have answered any questions asked of him. (PCR. Vol.III - p.425-6)

Mr. Morris would have testified about his upbringing and how it felt when his mother made him steal. (PCR. Vol.III - p.426) He also would have explained how he came to be diagnosed with ulcers. (PCR. Vol.III - p.426) He would have testified as to his side of the story regarding mitigation. (PCR. Vol.III - p.426)

#### E. TESTIMONY OF DR. HENRY DEE

Dr. Henry Dee, a clinical psychologist and clinical neuropsychologist, testified at the evidentiary hearing. (PCR. Vol.III - p.433) Dr. Dee testified that he did not

personally give Mr. Morris the battery of tests including the Denman, the Wechsler, the Wisconsin Card Sorting Test, and the Halstead-Reitan Battery - one of his assistants administered the tests. (PCR. Vol.III - p.437) Dr. Dee administered the WAIS-R, which was state of the art, however, the WAIS III came out just after administering Mr. Morris the test. (PCR. Vol.III - p.439)

In Dr. Deess opinion, Mr. Morris was not retarded. (PCR. Vol.III - p.440) Mr. Morris had been tested with various tests and scored between 76 and 80 in the past. (PCR. Vol.III - p.442) Based on his prior scores, Dr. Dee did not see that there was any point in going back and administering more tests or a different form of tests. (PCR. Vol.III - p.442) Dr. Dee did agree and conclude that Mr. Morris suffered from brain damage. (PCR. Vol.III - p.455)

Regarding the age at the time of the offense mitigator, Dr. Dee testified that he didn≠ specifically remember discussing it with Attorney Garrett, but he believed mental age is useful when the individual is much younger. (PCR. Vol.III - p.460)

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