IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT DWAYNE MORRIS,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC04-1594 Lower Tribunal No. CF94-3961A1-XX

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

In sum, there is no possibility that the fact the jurors were able to submit questions in writing in this case rendered the result of appellant's trial unreliable or unfair. The State submitted overwhelming evidence of appellant's guilt and he has failed to meet his burden of establishing prejudice under <u>Strickland</u>. The trial court's denial of relief on this claim should be affirmed on appeal.

D. <u>Defense Counsel Was Not Ineffective In Failing To Properly</u> Prepare For Witness Laventure's Testimony

Appellant next contends that defense counsel was ineffective for failing to prepare for the guilt phase of his

¹⁰The glove had blood on it with genetic characteristics consistent with the appellant's. (T-23, 2286).

trial. Specifically, he contends that counsel was ineffective in failing to depose defense witness Laventure prior to trial. The State disagrees.

The trial court rejected this claim below, stating, in part:

Mr. Dimmig testified he conducted a phone interview of witness Ms. Laventure. During the interview she informed him that observed an individual she that was definitely not a black man. However, Mr. Dimmig testified that he was aware before trial that Ms. Laventure was not a willing witness as she previously indicated. Mr. Dimmig testified at trial Ms. Laventure testified that she observed a man lurking around that was definitely not white. Mr. Dimmig admits that Ms. Laventure's testimony was а surprise and detrimental. He attempted to recover by refreshing Ms. Laventure's recollection of the statement Mr. Dimmig acknowledges she made to him. that he did not have a written deposition in which he could utilize to impeach Ms. Laventure. However, he testified that it is not his standard procedure to depose defense witnesses. Throughout his career, in excess of twenty years, Mr. Dimmig doesn't ever recall deposing a defense witness.

This Court finds that Mr. Dimmig's conduct and representation met the standard of performance and there was no deviation from the required standard of performance. Thus, the Defendant is unable to meet either prong of the <u>Strickland</u> test, and ground I (B) is denied.

(V-5, 792-93).

Ms. Laventure lived in a house behind the Martin's Landing complex where the murder occurred. (V-3, 355). Ms. Laventure

was interviewed by the police in their "neighborhood canvass" and also interviewed by the Public Defender investigators who were assisting Dimmig in preparing his case. (V-3, 355-56).

Laventure testified at trial that she did not get a good look at the individual lurking around the victim's apartment. However, she did testify that "he wasn't white." (V-3, 357). Dimmig attempted to refresh her recollection with a conversation she had with him. (V-3, 357). He was unable to impeach her testimony with a prior phone conversation. (V-3, 358). Dimmig admitted that he did not have any prior written statements or depositions with which to impeach her testimony. (V-3, 358).

Appellant essentially contends that a defense attorney must depose any witness he plans to call at trial, or, at least any witness he believes might be "reluctant." However, as Dimmig testified, he has never deposed his own witnesses. Nor, did he know of any defense attorneys who deposed their own witnesses. Obviously, deposing your own witness opens the door to revealing defense strategy and allows the State to prepare for the witness. Dimmig made a reasonable tactical decision not to depose witness Laventure.

The presumption of effectiveness is even more difficult to overcome when addressing the conduct of an experienced defense attorney such as Mr. Dimmig. <u>See Chandler v. United States</u>, 218

F.3d 1305, 1316 (11th Cir. 2000), *en banc*, ("When courts are examining the performance of an experienced trial counsel, the presumption that his conduct was reasonable is even stronger."). Dimmig was an Assistant State Attorney for five years and the remaining years he has spent practicing as a criminal defense attorney, "in excess of 20 years." (V-3, 371). Dimmig testified that he never deposed his own witnesses. (V-3, 371). Dimmig had either talked to Laventure or had someone else talk with her prior to trial and felt he knew what she would say on the witness stand. (V-3, 372). "I did not want to take a deposition of her, because then the State would be aware of her, so, yeah, I didn't have one I could use." (V-3, 372).

Dimmig explained that Ms. Laventure would provide relevant testimony in two respects. One was that the person she observed outside of Ms. Livingston's apartment earlier on the day of her murder was not black, and, the second was that Morris was accounted for at the time she observed this other individual. Therefore the jury could conclude that this individual was not Mr. Morris. (V-3, 369-70). So, he presented evidence in the form of time records from Taco Bell to show that the individual Laventure observed was not Morris. (V-3, 370). Her testimony did not harm the overall theory of the defense, but, Dimmig did believe her testimony was damaging since he made a specific

reference in opening regarding what he expected her to testify to. (V-3, 371). Dimmig testified that in his experience it is "not uncommon to be surprised" by what a witness testifies to at trial. (V-3, 373).

The test for determining whether counsel's performance was deficient is whether some reasonable lawyer at trial could have acted under the circumstances as defense counsel acted at trial; the test has nothing to do with what the best lawyers would have done or what most good lawyers would have done. White v. Singletary, 972 F.2d 1218 (11th Cir. 1992). See Johnson v. State, 769 So. 2d 990, 1001 (Fla. 2000)("Counsel's strategic decisions will not be second guessed on collateral attack."). "Even if in retrospect the strategy appears to have been wrong, the decision will be held ineffective only if it was so patently unreasonable that no competent attorney would have chosen it." Adams v. Wainwright, 709 F.2d 1443, 1445 (11th Cir. 1983), cert. denied, 464 U.S. 1063 (1984). See Valle v. State, 778 So. 2d 960 (Fla. 2001) ("This Court has held that defense counsel's strategic choices do not constitute deficient conduct if alternative courses of action have been considered and rejected.")(citing Shere v. State, 742 So. 2d 215, 220 (Fla. 1999)). Since it was standard practice for defense attorneys

not to depose their own witnesses, it cannot be said Dimmig was ineffective for failing to depose witness Laventure.

Aside from appellant's failure to establish deficient performance in this case, he has completely failed to establish any resulting prejudice. Appellant's assertion that defense counsel should have called investigator Barfield in an attempt to impeach Laventure is without merit. Post-conviction counsel failed to call Barfield during the evidentiary hearing and this Court may not simply speculate about the impact or potential relevance of his testimony in this case. <u>See Spencer v. State</u>, 842 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 2003)(rejecting ineffectiveness claim where collateral counsel failed to call the allegedly impeaching witness during the evidentiary hearing and noting that reversible error cannot be predicated on "conjecture.")(citing Sullivan v. State, 303 So. 2d 632, 635 (Fla. 1974)).

Militating against any finding of prejudice in this case is the deft manner in which trial defense counsel addressed Laventure's testimony in closing argument:

> ...I wanted you to hear from Sherry Laventure because the bottom line, the issue she was going to talk about is the fact that there was somebody seen lurking around Violet Livingston's apartment the afternoon of September 1st, the afternoon before the night when she was murdered, who didn't belong there. I thought she was going to say he wasn't black. I was willing to live with that. It didn't help me a lot because

there were Negroid body hairs found inside Mrs. Livingston's apartment. So you would think, well, maybe it's more likely that a black was the one in there.

The population geneticists have told you that this particular DNA profile is more common, significantly more common in the African American database than it is in the Caucasian database or the Hispanic database. I still wanted you to hear it even though I thought she was going to say it wasn't a black person. It didn't matter. We know it wasn't him because Julie Woodruff from Taco Bell got on the witness stand and said he was working from 2:00 to 5:30 on Thursday afternoon, September 1st. She had the records initialed by the manager on duty.

You heard Ms. Laventure say she knows what time it was, after two o'clock, because she goes to get her daughter from school, so she went out to get the mail just before getting in her car. So we know it wasn't him. Apparently, maybe it was a black So be it. The issue is somebody person. was lurking around that apartment, somebody who the police got told about. Ms. Laventure told you she told the police about this person, and yet that's not checked out either.

(T29, 3435-37). The fact that the person Ms. Laventure observed may have been African American probably worked to appellant's advantage given the physical evidence suggesting that the attacker was in fact, African American. The most important fact elicited from Ms. Laventure in favor of appellant's defense was this individual was observed the the time near victim's The prosecutor apparently did not dispute the fact apartment. that the defendant was at work between 2:00 and 5:00 on

September 2nd. The prosecutor in fact, appeared to accept the testimony that appellant was at work:

...We know that Mrs. Livingston was alive at six o'clock that night. We know that he did not get home until about 5:45 p.m. He said he got off work about 5:30, took him about 15 minutes and things got vague from that point on. Things got so conveniently vague as to the time.

(T-28, 3361-62).

Thus, based upon this record, the race of the individual observed by Ms. Laventure was not critical to appellant's defense. And, since the jury was specifically advised that no defense attorney or any representative of the defense advised <u>any</u> witness to present false testimony, it cannot be said that appellant suffered any prejudice as a result of counsel's failure to depose witness Laventure prior to trial.

ISSUE II

WHETHER APPELLANT WAS DENIED THE EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AT THE GUILT PHASE OF WHEN COUNSEL HELD HIS TRIAL DEFENSE Α DISCUSSION WITH THE TRIAL COURT OUT OF MORRIS'S PRESENCE WITHOUT A WAIVER? (STATED BY APPELLEE).

Appellant next asserts that his defense attorneys rendered ineffective assistance by participating in a bench conference without Morris present or obtaining a waiver of his presence.¹¹ The State disagrees.

The trial court rejected this claim below, stating, in

part:

When questioned about matters that were discussed in a bench conference outside the presence of Morris, Ms. Garrett testified that she has no independent recollection of the conversation. She stated that she did read the transcript in preparing for her testimony at the evidentiary hearing. She was unable to say with any certainty that the exchange that took place was regarding a legal matter that involved Morris. However, she stated that based on her background, her training and the fact that she did not reconstruct the conversation on the record,

¹¹Any substantive claim of error emanating from his lack of presence is procedurally barred for the failure to object at trial below and raise the issue on direct appeal. <u>See Cole v.</u> <u>State</u>, 701 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 1997)(failure to contemporaneously object at trial bars appellate claim that lower court erred in holding bench conferences in hallway without defendant's presence); <u>Vining v. State</u>, 827 So. 2d 201, 217 (Fla. 2002)("substantive claims relating to Vining's absence are procedurally barred as they should have been raised either at trial or on direct appeal.")(citing <u>Harvey v. Dugger</u>, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995)).

she believes that the conversation was not pertinent to the legal issues of Morris.

The Court finds that Ms. Garrett is a credible witness and the testimony provided by her is reliable. Therefore, the Court finds that Ms. Garrett's conduct and representation met the standard of performance and there was no deviation from the required standard of performance. Thus, the Defendant is unable to meet either prong of the Strickland test, and ground VI is denied.

(V-5, 795-96).

The trial court found that Ms. Garrett was a credible witness. Ms. Garrett testified below that she did not believe she would have excluded Morris from a discussion in which he needed to be present. (V-3, 407). The fact that there was no reconstruction after the bench conference led Garrett to believe that the matter was not consequential. (V-3, 407-08). The record supports her testimony and the trial court's denial of relief on this issue below.

Appellant failed to show that the bench conference constituted a critical stage in the proceeding in which his presence was required. <u>See Rutherford v. Moore</u>, 774 So. 2d 637 (Fla. 2000)("The constitutional right to be present does not extend to bench conferences involving purely legal matters because the defendant's presence would be of no assistance to counsel.")(citation omitted). The fact that Ms. Garrett, Mr. Dimmig, Mr. Harb, and the trial court, agreed to discuss a

matter outside of Morris's presence, and, indeed, off the record, clearly suggests that the matter discussed was not a substantive legal matter. Prior to Ms. Garrett bringing up "one other thing" off the record, Dimmig was evidently prepared to make a motion for mistrial. However, he was reminded by the prosecutor that his client, Morris, needed to be present. Dimmig agreed: "Yeah. We would need him in here." (T-33, When they went back on the record and the defendant 4168). entered the courtroom Dimmig made a motion for mistrial based upon publication of a fingerprint card. Id. This sequence of events clearly indicates that the prosecutor and defense attorneys were cognizant of the need for appellant's presence -when discussing a substantive legal or factual matter. The record therefore supports the trial court's conclusion below, that Garrett would not have discussed a substantive legal or factual matter off the record and outside of Morris's presence.

Aside from failing to establish any deficiency on the part of counsel, appellant has completely failed to address the prejudice prong. In <u>Vining v. State</u>, 827 So. 2d 201, 217-18 (Fla. 2002), this Court rejected a similar claim, stating, in part:

> In relation to this claim, Vining has failed to show how he was prejudiced by his absence during the pretrial and pre-penalty phase proceedings, nor has he asserted how

he could have made a meaningful contribution to counsel's legal arguments during these preliminary proceedings. As to Vining's absence from the bench conferences, while our ruling in Coney requires a defendant's physical presence at the immediate site of a bench conference, that ruling was prospective in application and thus did not apply to Vining's 1990 trial. See Boyett v. State, 688 So.2d 308, 309 (Fla. 1996) (stating that Coney rule regarding physical presence did not apply retroactively to trial that took place before Court's opinion was released). Furthermore, as the lower court noted, Vining has not shown that any discussed during these matter bench conferences required his consultation nor has he demonstrated any prejudice from his absence. While Vining cites a number of pages in the trial record where he allegedly was not present for bench conferences, he does not elaborate on what was discussed during these conferences or how he was prejudiced by his absence during them. Finally, as to Vining's absence when the jury asked the judge a question during guilt deliberations, the lower court noted that both defense counsel and the prosecutor were present when the trial judge responded "no" to the jurors' question of whether they should decide on an advisory sentence if they should agree on a verdict of firstdegree murder. Because this was clearly the appropriate response, the postconviction court concluded, and we agree, that any error resulting from Vining's absence was clearly harmless. Thus, we affirm the lower court's denial of the claim relating to Vining's absence because he has failed to meet the Strickland prejudice prong.

As in <u>Vining</u> appellant failed to show that his presence would have altered the outcome of his trial in any manner. <u>See</u> also Wike v. State, 813 So. 2d 12, 22 (Fla. 2002)(affirming

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